2009 -KA-00151-COAT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

E. Faye Peterson, Esq., THE PETERSON GROUP, LLC 310 Edgewood Terrace, Suite C Post Office Box 16882 Jackson, Mississippi 39206-6882

> Robert F. Clark, Esq. Post Office Box 2705 Mobile, Alabama 36652

Dennis DeBar, Esq.
Post Office Box 1090
Leakesville, MS 39451-1090
Honorable Robert Shuler Smith,

GREENE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The Trial Court Erred in Interpreting Section 97-5-33 of the Mississippi Code to Allow a Conviction Where No Actual Minor Child Is Involved in the Accused's Conduct
- II. The Trial Court Erred in Admitting the Chat Logs Because They Were Not Authenticated
- III. The State Violated Mr. Shaffer's Right to Confront the Witnesses Against Him When Introducing the Chat Logs Without Calling as a Witness the Persons Responsible for the Proxy Server
- IV. The Trial Judge Erred in Failing to Recuse Herself Based on Her Previous Involvement in Presiding Over an Attempted Prosecution of Mr. Shaffer in a Previous Case Which Resulted in a Reversal of the Conviction and Dismissal of the Indictment on Remand
- V. Where the Same Conduct Violates Two Criminal Statutes, an Accused May Only Be Sentenced Under the Statute Providing the Lesser Punishment

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course of Proceedings in the Trial Court

The defendant, Justin David Shaffer, was indicted September 21, 2006 by the grand jury of Greene County, Mississippi, for exploitation of a child, specifically, for using a computer and cellular telephone to

knowingly entice, induce, persuade, seduce, solicit, advise, coerce, or order a child under the age of 18 years, to meet with him for the purpose of engaging in sexually explicit conduct, contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi.

(CP. 8). Mr. Shaffer was tried by a jury in Greene County, Mississippi, beginning on August 12, 2008. (T. 21) Following the presentation of the State's case, Mr. Shaffer's counsel moved for a directed verdict, which the trial court denied. (T. 179-190; RE. 4). Mr. Shaffer's counsel then rested and renewed the motion for a directed verdict, which the trial court also denied. (T. 192-93, 200-01). The jury convicted Mr. Shaffer of exploitation of a

child, and the trial court sentence Mr. Shaffer to 25 years without the benefit of parole and a fine of \$50,000.00. (CP. 89-90; RE. 2). Subsequently, the trial court denied Mr. Shaffer's motion for J.N.O.V. or for a new trial on December 23, 2008. (CP. 103; RE. 3).

Mr. Shaffer then perfected his appeal of his conviction to the Mississippi Supreme Court on January 23, 2009. (CP. 104).

B. Statement of Facts

The defendant Justin Shaffer is a single man in his forties, living in Greene County, Mississippi at the time of the incidents that led to his prosecution. (State's Ex. 10). On June 29, 2006, Mr. Shaffer was in an internet chatroom called "Mississippi2" operated by Yahoo! that was supposed to be restricted to adults. (State's Ex. 10; T. 90, 121-22). Also in the same chatroom was a volunteer for the private organization, Perverted Justice. (T. 94-95). This volunteer entered the chatroom using a profile for a fake identity. (T. 86, 89, 94-95; State's Ex. 1). The profile used the screen name "orlandoluvsme2," which listed the age of the owner of the profile as 113 years old, but displayed the photographic image of a young woman. (T. 89-90; State's Ex. 1). The fake identity of the owner of the profile was "Chloe," a thirteen-year-old girl who lived in the Byram community in Hinds County, Mississippi. (State's Ex. 10). In fact, "Chloe" was Deanna Doolittle, a 29-year-old volunteer for Perverted Justice, living in Grand Junction, Colorado. (T. 74, 124). Perverted Justice, the organization for whom Deanna Doolittle volunteered, is a private organization whose purpose is to use subterfuge and fake identities to catch men looking on the internet for minors with whom to meet for sex. (T. 74-75).

Deanna Doolittle testified that after "Chloe" exited the chatroom she received a private message from "cowboy39461." (T. 94-95). Doolittle responded to the private message pretending to be 13-year-old "Chloe" using the profile name "orlandoluvsme2." (T. 97-98). The two chatted using Yahoo!'s Messenger software that evening. (State's Ex. 10) During the initial online chat, "cowboy39461" asked "orlanoluvsme2" to call him on his cell phone. (State's Ex. 10) At that point, another Perverted Justice volunteer, Kimberly Price, spoke briefly with "cowboy39461" on the telephone. (T. 130-31). Kimberly Price testified that her job was to be a verifier, which required that she obtain the name of the person calling and verify that this person was the same person chatting with "orlandoluvsme2" on the internet. (T. 128). In the telephone conversation, "cowboy39461" confirmed that his name was "Justin," which he had disclosed in the internet chat. (T. 130). Ms. Price represented that she was "Chloe" with whom "cowboy39461" had chatted. (T. 130; State's Ex. 11 & 12). After a short telephone conversation, "Chloe" and "Justin" resumed their chat over the internet using Yahoo! Messenger. (State's Ex. 10). Later in that chat, "cowboy39461" disclosed the he lived in Neely, Greene County, Mississippi. (State's Ex. 10).

"Orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" resumed their internet chat on July 1, 2006. (State's Ex. 10). During their chat, "orlandoluvsme2" emailed pictures of herself to "cowboy39461." (Tr. 104-05; State's Ex. 10). The remainder of the chat involved small talk. (State's Ex. 10). "Orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" attempted to chat on July 2 through 4, but were never signed on at the same time. (State's Ex. 10).

Finally, on July 5, 2006, "orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" resumed their chat. (State's Ex. 10). During this series of chats that carried over onto July 6, 2006,

¹ In one of their later chats, Mr. Shaffer is alleged to have used the profile name "Girth_i." (T. 101-03; State's Ex. 6 & 7).

"orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" began discussing the possibility of meeting. (State's Ex. 10). The chat contained some sexually explicit conversation. (State's Ex. 10) "cowboy39461" also revealed that his last name was "Shafer" and that he lived in at "5908 Neely Avera Rd, (sic) neely ms 39461." (State's Ex. 10). "Chloe" and "Justin" also had a very brief telephone conversation. (T. 131-32; State's Ex. 11 &12).

On July 7, 2006, "orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" chatted again. (State's Ex. 10). This chat also contained sexually explicit conversation. (State's Ex. 10). The chat carried over to July 8, as "orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" arranged to meet the next day. (State's Ex. 10). In a subsequent chat between "orlandoluvsme2" and "cowboy39461" that morning, they arranged a telephone call to discuss their meeting. (State's Ex. 10).

On July 8, 2006, "Chloe" and "Justin" had a series of telephone calls in which they discussed their meeting later in the day. (State's Ex. 13 & 14). During these conversations another Perverted Justice volunteer, Tricia Bootsma, pretended to be "Chloe." (T. 143). While the beginning conversations first demonstrate some reluctance by "Justin" to follow through on their meeting and some reluctance to engage in any sexually explicit conduct, eventually the conversations turned sexually explicit. (State's Ex. 13 & 14). Mr. Shaffer arrived at the location where "Chloe" and "Justin" arranged to meet at approximately 6:00 p.m. on July 8, 2006, where he was met by officers with the Hinds County Sheriff's Department and arrested. (T. 157, 159).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Shaffer presents five issues on appeal of his conviction for "child exploitation."

The argument presented under the first issue should be sufficient to dispose of the appeal of

the case. The remaining four issues are presented as error in the event that this Court is not persuaded by Mr. Shaffer's argument of the first issue.

Under the first issue, Mr. Shaffer presents the crucial argument that this Court must reverse his conviction and discharge him because the State failed to prove his guilt as to one of the elements of the crime for which he was indicted. Mr. Shaffer was indicted for the crime of "child exploitation." The indictment accuses Mr. Shaffer of using his computer and a cellular phone to entice a child to meet him for the purpose of engaging in sexually explicit activity. One of the elements of the indicted crime is that the enticement must be of a child, a person under the age of 18. None of the persons involved in the sting operation which nabbed Mr. Shaffer were under the age of 18. Consequently, he did not violate the criminal statute under which he was indicted and his conviction cannot stand.

Should this Court reject Mr. Shaffer's first argument, this Court must grant Mr. Shaffer a new trial. The most significant evidence against Mr. Shaffer was a 69-page chat log, which the State represented as being a "true and accurate" copy of the online computer chats between Mr. Shaffer and a volunteer for an organization named Perverted Justice. This volunteer was a 29 year-old woman living in Colorado who pretended to be a 13 year-old girl living in Byram, Mississippi. The State introduced the 69-page chat log through this volunteer, who admitted that she was not involved in its compilation and creation from the data stored on the "proxy" in Mississippi. The record at trial demonstrates that the chat log is incomplete and represents only a portion of the data stored on the proxy, some of which may be relevant to Mr. Shaffer's case. Over the objections of Mr. Shaffer's counsel that the State had failed to properly authenticate the chat logs, the Court erroneously introduced the chat logs. The volunteer offered no independent testimony about the content of the chats at trial.

Thus, the erroneously admitted chat logs are the only evidence of the chats. Consequently, Mr. Shaffer must be granted a new trial because the chat logs were crucial evidence undergirding the State's conviction.

The admission of the chat logs also implicates Mr. Shaffer's fundamental rught to confront the witnesses against him secured by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The State did not offer as a witness the person who set up the proxy that recorded the chats and who would have reviewed the data on the proxy to determine which chats were relevant to the charges against Mr. Shaffer. This person or persons would have been responsible for the integrity of the proxy throughout the sting operation and after its conclusion prior to trial. These same persons would have reviewed the data on the proxy accumulated during the sting operation which involved multiple Perverted Justice volunteers and the men with whom they chatted on the internet. The testimony of these persons was necessary to establish the integrity of the data on the proxy and that all the data relevant to Mr. Shaffer had been compiled in the chat logs. This would constitute the type of testimonial evidence at the core of the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment and the failure of the trial court to require this testimony deprived Mr. Shaffer of his confrontation rights secured by the Sixth Amendment and the Mississippi Constitution.

Mr. Shaffer is also entitled to new trial because the trial judge failed to recuse herself. The trial judge previously presided over a capital murder trial of Mr. Shaffer. Mr. Shaffer was convicted of murder and sexual battery and appealed his conviction to the Mississippi Supreme Court. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed the conviction and remanded because of police and prosecutorial misconduct in the handling of evidence, which the trial court allowed, and for other elementary errors by the trial court. On remand to the

trial court, the District Attorney decided that he could not prosecute the case because he did not have sufficient evidence. The trial court, the same judge who presided over and sentenced Mr. Shaffer in this case now on appeal, disagreed with the District Attorney in open court arguing that because Mr. Shaffer had been previously convicted, there was sufficient evidence to convict him again. When confronted with this matter, the judge refused to recuse herself from this trial. She presided over the trial, then, during sentencing of Mr. Shaffer, referred to her history with him, which could have been only in reference to the previous capital murder case in which the indictment had been dismissed by the District Attorney. A reasonable person viewing these facts would question the impartiality of the trial judge, which requires recusal. This Court should remand for trial before an impartial judge.

Finally, if this Court determines that Mr. Shaffer is not entitled to be discharged or that he is not entitled to a new trial, his sentence must be vacated and remanded for resentencing under the proper statute. Mr. Shaffer's alleged conduct is chargeable under two statutes, one of which is subject to a lesser punishment. Where the accused may be sentenced under more than one statute, the accused must be sentence under the statute imposing the lesser punishment. Therefore, this Court must vacate Mr. Shaffer's sentence and remand to the trial court to re-sentence him under Section 97-5-27 of the Mississippi Code, which provides for imprisonment not to exceed three years.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Interpreting Section 97-5-33 of the Mississippi Code to Allow a Conviction Where No Actual Minor Child Is Involved in the Accused's Conduct

In this assignment of error, Mr. Shaffer challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the crime of which the jury convicted him. That crime, nominated as "Child Exploitation" in the indictment, requires as an element that the victim of the crime be a "child," which is a term defined by statute for purposes of the indicted crime. The evidence at trial established that all of the volunteers for Pervert Justice were adults at the time of their conversations with Mr. Shaffer. At trial, when confronted with this argument during the motion for a directed verdict, the State argued that the statute, despite its clear, unambiguous language, criminalized Mr. Shaffer's acts. The State cited to a proviso in a separate subsection of the statute that precluded the defense of involvement of undercover operatives or law enforcement. This interpretation of the statute contradicts the plain language of the statute. This interpretation also runs afoul of the time-honored rule of construction that criminal statutes are to be construed strictly and in favor of the defendant. Finally, the State's interpretation is untenable because it requires the addition of language that was not a part of that statute as it existed in 2006 at the time of Mr. Shaffer's actions.

The critical inquiry when reviewing a defendant's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is whether viewing all the evidence presented—not just that supporting the State's case—in the light most favorable to the State, keeping in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof, reasonable fair-minded persons would believe that the accused committed the act charged and that every element of the offense existed. *Coleman v. State*, 947 So. 2d 878, 881 (Miss. 2007); *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005); *Edwards v. State*, 469 So. 2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985). If the State fails to prove any element of the offense beyond

a reasonable doubt, this Court must reverse the conviction and render a judgment of acquittal. *Coleman*, 947 So. 2d at 881, 885 (Reversing embezzlement conviction and discharging defendant where entity from whom money taken was not protected under the embezzlement statute); *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 843; *Edwards*, 469 So. 2d at 70 (reversing and rendering where State failed to introduce evidence of amount of money received by the accused; the amount received was an element of the crime of food stamp fraud). This Court reviews the interpretation of a statute as a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. *Gilmer v. State*, 955 So. 2d 829, 833 (Miss. 2007); *Coleman*, 947 So. 2d at 880.

The State indicted Justin Schaffer under Section 97-5-33 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972. The indictment reads as follows:

Justin David Shaffer (sic)...did unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously[,] through the use of messaging sent via a computer and cellular telephone[,] knowingly entice, induce, persuade, seduce, solicit, advise, coerce, or order a child under the age of 18 years, to meet with him for the purpose of engaging in sexually explicit conduct....

(CP. at 8). The indictment does not charge Justin Schaffer with an attempt under 97-1-1 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended. The indictment charges Justin Schaffer with the completed crime.

The prosecution presented its case against Justin Schaffer by calling as witnesses the volunteers with the organization Perverted Justice. Each of these witnesses, who interacted with Mr. Schaffer through the internet or through a cellular telephone, were adults. Deanna Doolittle, who chattered with Mr. Schaffer over the internet under the fake persona of "Chloe," testified that she was 29 years old. Kimberly Price, who spoke with Mr. Schaffer by telephone, testified that she was either 21 or 22 at the time of the conversations. (T. at 136). Tricia Bootsma, who also spoke with Mr. Schaffer by telephone, testified that she was 19 at the time of the conversations. (T. at 148). When Mr. Shaffer arrived at the meeting

place, he was met and arrested by officers with the Hinds County Sheriff's Department. No person, neither volunteer nor law enforcement, participating in the sting operation was a "child" as that term is defined for purposes of the crime of which Mr. Shaffer was convicted.

Following the presentation of evidence to the jury, the trial court instructed the jury based on Section 97-5-33 (6) of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972 as it existed in 2006 at the time of the alleged acts, through instruction S-1B:

The Court instructs the jury that the defendant, Justin David Shaffer, has been charged in the indictment with the crime of Exploitation of a Child.

If you find from the evidence in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Justin David Shaffer:

- (1) On or between June 29, 2006 through July 9, 2006, did unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously;
- (2) by any means, including computer and cellular telephone;
- (3) did knowingly entice, induce, persuade, seduce, solicit, advise, or order a child under the age of eighteen years;
- (4) to meet with the Defendant, Justin David Shaffer, for the purpose of engaging in sexually explicit conduct and
- (5) that the incidents occurred in Greene County, Mississippi;

then you shall find the Defendant, Justin David Shaffer, guilty [of] exploitation of a child as charged in the indictment.

(CP. 83).

The crimes created by Section 97-5-33 clearly and unambiguously require as an element that the victim of the exploitation be a child, that is, a person under the age of 18. See Miss. Code Ann. §97-5-31 (a) (2006) ("Child' means any individual who has not attained the age of eighteen (18) years" and that definition applies to the crimes created by Section 97-5-33). The applicable portion of the statute states, "No person shall, by any

means including computer, knowingly entice, induce, persuade, seduce, solicit, advise, coerce, or order a child to meet with the defendant or any other person for the purpose of engaging in sexually explicit conduct." Miss Code Ann. § 97-5-33 (6) (2006). The charge to the jury correctly incorporated this element that the victim be a child.

At trial, in response to Mr. Shaffer's directed verdict motion based on the State's failure to prove the involvement of a child in his conduct, the State argued that another subsection of 97-5-33 removes the requirement that the criminalized actions must be directed toward an actual "child." Subsection (8) of 97-5-33, as it appeared at the time of Mr. Shaffer's conduct that led to his prosecution, states:

The fact that an undercover operative or law enforcement officer was involved in the detection and investigation of the offense as charged in the indictment shall not constitute a defense to the prosecution of the crime charged.

The trial court accepted the State's erroneous construction of the statute when it denied Mr. Shaffer's directed verdict motion based on the failure of the State to introduce any evidence that Mr. Shaffer's conduct involved a child.

The construction of Section 97-5-33 (8) accepted by the trial court is error because the plain language of that section does not remove the element of the crime created by Section 97-5-33 (6) that the victim be a child. Section 97-5-33 (8) does contemplate that undercover operatives and law enforcement officers will be involved in detecting and investigating all of the conduct criminalized in Section 97-5-33. The word "detection" is defined by The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language as "The act of finding out or the fact of being found out; discovery, as of something hidden or obscure." Consequently, it would be no defense to the crime of child exploitation that law enforcement discovered communications that violated the section through the monitoring of public chat rooms under circumstances where an actual child was being "enticed" to meet for the

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