IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JUSTIN DAVID SCHAFFER

VS.

4

æ

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

NO. 2009-KA-015

APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS
INTERPRETATION OF MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION
97-5-33 (Rev. 2006)
2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING
"CHAT LOGS" 16
3. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT
BEFORE THE COURT19
4. THAT THE ISSUE EMBRACED BY THE FOURTH
ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY
DECIDED BY THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT
AND THAT THAT COURT'S DECISION IS RES
JUDICATA OR LAW OF THE CASE HERE
5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT
SENTENCING THE APPELLANT UNDER MISS.
CODE ANN. SECTION 97-5-27(3) (REV. 2006)
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)
<i>Fuqua v. United States</i> , 2009 WL 285489312
<i>Osborn v. United States</i> , 385 U.S. 323, 333, 87 S.Ct. 429, 434, 17 L.Ed.2d 394 (1966)11
<i>United States v. Castaneda-Cantu</i> , 20 F.3d 1325, 1330 (5th Cir.1994)
United States v. Contreras, 950 F.2d 232, 237 (5th Cir.1991), cert. denied, 504 U.S. 941, 112 S.Ct. 2276, 119 L.Ed.2d 202 (1992)
United States v. Darnell, 545 F.2d 595, 597 (8th Cir.1976)
United States v. Duran, 884 F.Supp. 577, 580 n. 5 (D.D.C.1995), aff'd, 96 F.3d 1495 (D.C.Cir.1996)11
United States v. Everett, 700 F.2d 900, 905 (3rd Cir.1983)
United States v. Farner, 251 F.3rd 510 (5th. Cir. 2001)9
United States v. Helder, 452 F.3d 751, 756 (8th Cir.2006)
United States v. Hubbard, 480 F.3rd 341 (5th Cir. 2007)
United States v. Mandujano, 499 F.2d 370, 376 (5th Cir.1974)11
United States v. McInnis, 601 F.2d 1319 (5th Cir.1979)12
United States v. Oviedo, 525 F.2d 881, 885-86 (5th Cir.1976)
United States v. Powell, 1 F.Supp.2d 1419, 1421 (N.D.Ala.1998), aff'd, 177 F.3d 982 11
United States v. Quijada, 588 F.2d 1253, 1255 (9th Cir.1978)11
United States v. Tykarsky, 446 F.3d 458, 461 (3d Cir.2006)

STATE CASES

18 U.S.C. § 2422(b)		13
---------------------	--	----

.

4

STATE STATUTES

Miss. Code Ann. 63-11-30
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-1-7 (Rev. 2006) 15
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-27(3)(e) (Rev. 2006)
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-31(a) (Rev. 2006)
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-31(b) (Rev. 2006)4
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-33(6), (8) (Rev. 2006)
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-33(8)
Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-35 (Rev. 2006)
Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-19-5(1) (Rev. 2007)15

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JUSTIN DAVID SCHAFFER A/K/A JUSTIN DAVID SHAFFER

APPELLANT

vs.

CAUSE No. 2009-KA-00151-COA

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Greene County, Mississippi in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of **EXPLOITATION OF A CHILD**.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant, no stranger to the courts of criminal justice¹, does not challenge the sufficiency or weight of the evidence concerning his latest criminal escapade, except as to one point, which will be discussed at length below. That being so, it is unnecessary to set out in detail the facts of his guilt. It is sufficient to say that the evidence clearly and overwhelmingly showed that the Appellant entered into telephonic and computer conversations with a person he

¹ Shaffer v. State, 2007-M-00356; Shaffer v. State, 740 So.2d 273 (Miss. 1998).

believed to be a girl of thirteen years and in due course traveled from his home in Greene County

to Byram to meet her and enter into a sexual relationship with her. That the Appellant did so is

beyond doubt – indeed, he apologized for his actions in this regard during allocution.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 97-5-33?

2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE THE "CHAT LOGS"?

3. WAS THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT OF CONFRONTATION VIOLATED BECAUSE PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE "PROXY SERVER" WERE NOT CALLED TO TESTIFY?

4. DID THE JUDGE OF THE CIRCUIT COURT WHO TRIED THE INSTANT CASE ERR IN FAILING TO RECUSE HERSELF?

5. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN SENTENCING?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF MISS. CODE ANN, SECTION 97-5-33 (Rev. 2006)

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING "CHAT LOGS"

3. THAT THE THIRD ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT

4. THAT THE ISSUE EMBRACED BY THE FOURTH ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY DECIDED BY THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT AND THAT THAT COURT'S DECISION IS *RES JUDICATA* OR LAW OF THE CASE HERE

5. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT SENTENCING THE APPELLANT UNDER MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 97-5-27(3) (REV. 2006)

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 97-5-33 (Rev. 2006)

In the First Assignment of Error, the Appellant claims that the trial court erred in its

interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-33(6), (8) (Rev. 2006), in that the court held that it was not necessary that the State prove that the Appellant enticed an "actual" thirteen year girl.

The factual underpinning for the claim lies in the fact that, unbeknownst to the Appellant at the time he was communicating by computer and telephone with "Chloe," the people he contacted by computer and by telephone were adult women. The Appellant never spoke with a thirteen-year-old girl, and there was no "Chloe." In the Appellant's motion for a directed verdict, he urged this point as a ground for a directed verdict. He asserted that inasmuch as there was no child involved, he could not be convicted of exploitation of a child. After extensive argument, the trial court denied relief on the motion for a directed verdict. (R. Vol. 3, pp. 179 - 190).

While not very clearly set out, the Appellant appears to have at least two issues, perhaps interrelated, involved in the First Assignment of Error. The first issue is whether an "actual child" must be shown to have been involved in a prosecution under Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-33(6), or whether it is sufficient for the State to show that the accused enticed a person he believed to be a child, as permitted under Section 97-5-33(8). The other issue is whether there is a difference under Section 97-5-33(6) where the charge is attempted exploitation of a child, rather than a completed offense under that section, in terms of whether there is a requirement for an "actual child." Complicating the matter further, there is potentially the issue of whether a 2007 amendment to Section 97-5-33(8) applies in the case at bar.

Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-33(6) (Rev. 2006), the subsection under which the Appellant was charged, provides:

No person shall, by any means including computer, knowingly entice, persuade, seduce, solicit, advise, coerce, or order a child to meet with the defendant or any other person for the purpose of engaging is sexually explicit conduct. "Sexually explicit conduct" is defined at Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-31(b) (Rev. 2006). It is not said here that the Appellant's intentions were not to engage in "sexually explicit conduct" with "Chloe." A "child," for purposes of Section 97-5-31(6) is a person who has not attained the age of eighteen years. Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-31(a) (Rev. 2006).

MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 97-5-33(8)

Section 97-5-33(8), as it existed in June - July 2006, the time in which the Appellant

committed the acts forming the felony for which he has been convicted in the case at bar,

provided:

The fact that an undercover operative or law enforcement officer was involved in the detection and investigation of an offense under this section shall not constitute a defense to a prosecution under this section.

This subsection was amended in 2007 to provide:

The fact that an undercover operative or law enforcement officer posed as a child or was involved in any other manner in the detection and investigation of an offense under this section shall not constitute a defense to a prosecution under this section.

The Appellant contends, firstly, that Section 97-5-33(6) clearly refers to an actual child and, secondly, that nothing in the version of 97-5-33(8), as that statute existed in 2006, can be reasonably thought to have altered Section 97-5-33(6). It is asserted that the trial court effectively applied the 2007 amendment of Section 97-5-33(8) in the case at bar, allegedly in violation of the constitutional proscriptions against ex post facto laws. Stated another way, the claim is that because the Appellant never spoke with an actual child of thirteen years, with a view toward engaging in sexually explicit conduct with her, he could not have been found guilty of violating Section 97-5-33(6). Thus, a directed verdict should have been granted. We have found no decisions from this Court or the Mississippi Supreme Court which address this issue.

To the extent that the Appellant claims that the trial court applied the 2007 amendment to Section 97-5-33(8), we do not find that the trial court did so. It is true that the prosecution mentioned the amendment, stating that the 2007 amendment was but a clarification of preexisting legislative intention, (R. Vol. 3, pg. 183), but the trial court, while it did deny relief on the Appellant's motion, did not state that the amendment was the reason for that denial (R. Vol. 3, pg. 190). This being so, so much of the Appellant's argument here based upon ex post facto considerations is unsupported by the record. Furthermore, the Appellant did not assert a potential ex post facto issue in the course of the argument below. He may not raise it now. *Rogers v. State*, 928 So.2d 831 (Miss. 2006).

The Appellant asserts that Section 97-5-33(8), as it existed at the time the Appellant committed the felony at bar, cannot be read so as to exclude what believes to be the necessity of the existence of an actual child for purposes of Section 97-5-33(6). In an effort to support this argument, he invokes rules of statutory construction, claiming that the Section 97-5-33(8) is ambiguous. In support of his claim that the subsection is ambiguous, he points out the 2007 amendment. According to the Appellant, Section 97-5-33(8) was intended only to apply to cases of child pornography. (Brief for the Appellant, at 12).

We do not find that Section 97-5-33(8), as its text existed at the time of the offense at bar, was ambiguous, nor do we find any support for the notion that it was intended to apply only to cases involving child pornography.

First of all, Section 97-5-33(8) clearly refers to "an offense under this section" and to "a prosecution under this section." There is no limitation whatever to offenses involving child pornography; the plain reading of the statute evinces a clear intention by the legislature that the

fact that undercover operatives or law enforcement officers were involved in the detection and investigation of any offense set out by Section 97-5-33 shall not constitute a defense to an offense defined by Section 97-5-33.

It is true enough that Section 97-5-33(6) uses the word "child." Certainly an act under this subsection against an "actual child" would be an offense, but subsection is not necessarily limited to an "actual child." Subsections six and eight must be read together. If the Appellant were right in his contention, then law enforcement would be put to using children as undercover operatives in the course of detecting and investigating crimes of this kind. Given the obvious potential dangers to children in using them in such a manner, this could not have been the intention of the legislature.²

Jaime14" was not a corporation or other legal entity. But like those entities, she was not a flesh-and-blood human being either. Coonrod points to no language in the statute, or in the case law, that excludes a fictional persona such as "Jaime14" from the definition of a "person," or a "specific person." This court cannot supply language that the legislature has purposefully omitted or overlooked. In re Rapp, 621 N.W.2d 781, 786 (Minn.App.2001). The courts will not infer that the legislature intended an absurd result. State v. Murphy, 545 N.W.2d 909, 916 (Minn.1996). A few examples will illustrate the point. "Sting," or "undercover," or "decoy" operations are not uncommon. [footnote omitted] When a drug dealer has drugs to sell and is "sucked" into an undercover operation, the second he hands over the drugs to an undercover agent in exchange for money, the badge and handcuffs come out, and two things will happen: (a) he will not get to keep the money, and (b) he will not be able to argue that he can be guilty at most of mere possession rather than possession with the intent to sell, or a completed sale, because he had no chance to execute a bona fide sale. Exactly the same is true with undercover operations aimed at arresting prostitutes or their "johns." Law enforcement would be in a high state of consternation if real prostitutes and real

² In *State v. Coonrod*, 652 N.W.2d 715 (Minn. App. 2002), the Minnesota court had before it an appellant who had used a computer to solicit sex from a person he thought was a fourteen year old girl, but who in fact was an adult police officer. That appellant was caught in a "sting" operation, as was the Appellant in the case at bar. In addressing a very similar if not the same claim raised here, court pointed out the folly of requiring "actual" children in such case, analogizing the case to other kinds of "sting operations. The Minnesota court stated:

On the other hand, perhaps the Appellant means to be understood to say that law enforcement officers may only stand idly by while pedophiles contact children, only able to investigate if and when a complaint is made to them. If so, this construction is equally absurd. If that were the case, then why indeed would the legislature have troubled itself to draft Section 97-5-33(8): Law enforcement has the ability to investigate complaints of criminal misconduct generally and does not require a specific authorization to investigate crimes defined in Section 97-5-33.

This Court will not adopt unreasonable or absurd constructions of statutes. *Eason v. State*, 994 So.2d 785 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). We think the subsections are unambiguous and that the Appellant's constructions of them would impute an unwise purpose or no purpose at all to Subsection eight.

However, should the Court find that an ambiguity exists between subsections six and eight of Section 97-5-33, then, in construing those subsections, the Court is required to ascertain the intent of the legislature by examining the words used, the subject matter, the historical background, and the purposes and objects to be accomplished. The Court is to determine the legislative intention, and, once that intention is found, the Court is to liberally construe the statues with a view toward effecting that intent. *32 Pit Bulldogs and Other Property v. County of Prentiss*, 808 So.2d 971 (Miss. 2002).

This Court should arrive at the same result.

johns had to be used and if the possibility of a full successful completion of the transaction had to be present! Coonrod's argument, followed to its logical extreme, would demand that the state, when investigating the type of crime he is charged with, employ actual young girls to type the chat room text, to meet with the suspect, and to follow through with everything needed to get the suspect to the point of an overt act. We simply will not read that into the law. (emphasis added)

Subsection eight clearly applies to any offense defined in Section 97-5-33. There is absolutely no warrant to find that the subsection was meant to apply only in cases of child pornography. Subsection eight clearly refers to "undercover operative[s]" as well as law enforcement officers involved in the detection and investigation of an offense under Section 97-5-33, and there is no limitation as to what detection and investigation may include. An adult undercover operative, posing as a child, would be involved in detecting an offense. In view of the evident purpose of Section 97-5-33, which is to prohibit and punish the exploitation of children, and in view of the duty of this Court to give effect to the entire statute, in accordance with the legislative intent, subsection eight authorizes an adult operative or law enforcement officer to represent themselves as a child, for purpose of Subsection six. To say otherwise would be to deprive Subsection eight of the full scope of what the legislature intended. The 2007 amendment to Subsection eight did not enlarge this, but only made the legislative intention all the more explicit.

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